I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Under Washington law, parties to a settlement agreement 

concerning claims against one or more but fewer than all parties must 

disclose that agreement before trial. In this case, Plaintiffs Donald and 

Beth Collings negotiated and executed such an agreement with regard to 

two defendants (Andrew and Malinda Mullen) but failed to disclose the 

existence or terms of that agreement to the trial court, to the jury, and to 

the other defendants (including City First Mortgage Services, LLC, the 

appellant herein) prior to or during the trial. Then, when the Mullens did 

not appear at trial, the Collingses' counsel asked the jury, "Where are [the 

Mullens]?" and "Why aren't they here [to defend themselves]?"] The 

Collingses then proposed - and the trial court adopted - numerous 

instructions that were flatly inconsistent with the previously executed 

settlement agreement. City First did not discover the agreement until two 

months after trial, when its lawyers noticed a reference to that agreement 

buried in documentation that the Collingses had filed in support of their 

request for prevailing party attorneys' fees. As set forth in Section V.B 

below, based on this error alone, the trial court's judgment cannot stand. 

I The quotations in the text above can be found in the declaration of Brian Hunt 
(at CP 1775-77), which is addressed more fully in footnote 5 below. 
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If the Court vacates the trial court's judgment on that basis, the 

matter should be remanded for a new trial. The question, then, is what 

claims should be tried on remand? As discussed in Section V.C below, 

several of the other claims fail as a matter of law and therefore should not 

be remanded to the trial court. Those arguments are also separate and 

independent bases to vacate the trial court's judgment. Finally, as set forth 

in Section V.D below, the trial court's award of attorneys' fees and costs 

also should be vacated or, at the very least, substantially reduced. Either 

way, the matter should be remanded for a new trial - one that does not 

include improper claims and arguments, misleading jury instructions, and 

other serious trial court errors. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in denying City First's motion for 

judgment as a matter of law under CR 50(a). CP 1150-52. 

2. The trial court erred in denying City First's motion for 

judgment as a matter of law under CR 50(b) or, alternatively, a new trial 

under CR 59. CP 1859-63. 

3. The trial court erred in entering its Order re: Mullins [sic] 

Release and Motion for New Trial. CP 1859-63. 
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4. If the trial court struck the declaration of Brian Hunt (the 

record on this point is unclear), the trial court erred in doing so. RP 6:18-

9:19; 80:22-81:13 (Feb. 25,2011); CP 1775-77. 

5. The trial court erred in entering judgment against City First. 

CP 1135-38, 1353-56,2171-75. 

6. The trial court erred in granting the Collingses' motion for 

an award of attorneys' fees and costs and for a multiplier. CP 1977-83. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Whether this Court should vacate the trial court's judgment 

and remand this matter for a new trial because the Collingses failed to 

disclose their covenant not to execute any judgment against the Mullens to 

the trial court, to the jury, and to the parties before trial. (Assignments of 

Error Nos. 2-5.) 

2. Whether this Court should vacate the trial court's judgment 

and remand this matter for a new trial because ( a) some claims asserted by 

the Collingses fail as a matter of law, (b) other claims asserted by the 

Collingses are not supported by legally sufficient evidence, and ( c) the 

jury's verdict does not differentiate between the Collingses' claims, thus 

requiring that the entire judgment be vacated if one or more claims fails. 

(Assignments of Error Nos. 1-3,5.) 
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3. Whether this Court should vacate the trial court's award of 

attorneys' fees and costs because (a) the Collingses are not prevailing 

parties for the reasons set forth above, and/or (b) all or some of the fees 

awarded are not properly recoverable - nor is a multiplier appropriate -

given the facts and circumstances at issue. (Assignment of Error No.6.) 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

In early 2006, the Collingses contacted City First in an attempt to 

refinance their home. RP 12:23-13:9 (Sept. 15,2010). Ms. Collings 

spoke with Gavin Spencer, who worked at an independent branch of City 

First in a business owned by Robert Loveless and Andrew Mullen (both 

defendants in this case) known as Home Front Services, LLC ("Home 

Front Services"). RP 97:6-14 (Sept. 15,2010). Thereafter, the Collingses 

applied for a "no income loan" - a loan based not on income or assets but 

rather only on credit score and home equity. RP 18: 13-25, 21 :25-22:22 

(Sept. 14,2010). The Collingses did not satisfy the requirements for such 

a loan and were therefore declined. RP 23:14-19, 24:18-25:25, 90:22-91:4 

(Sept. 14, 2010); RP 20:13-14, 21 :24-22:4, 22:18-21 (Sept. 15, 2010). 

That result was consistent with the Collingses' expectations. Given his 

18-plus years working for lenders on residential mortgage loans (including 
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for U.S. Bank, another appellant herein), Mr. Collings "knew what the 

qualifying guidelines are, and [knew] we didn't meet them." RP 20:13-23, 

109:9-110:22 (Sept. 14, 2010). It is undisputed that City First did not 

provide a loan to the Collingses. 

Soon after the Collingses received notice that they did not qualify 

for a loan from City First, Mr. Loveless offered to personally purchase the 

Collingses' home and, further, to lease it back to them through another 

business he owned with Mr. Mullen: Home Front Holdings, LLC ("Home 

Front Holdings"). RP 31:5-10, 31:22-25, 78:13-21 (Sept. 14,2010); Ex. 3. 

Under Mr. Loveless's plan, Home Front Holdings would be the landlord 

and "all payments [from the Collingses were to be] addressed to Home 

Front Holdings LLC." RP 78:13-21 (Sept. 14, 2010); see also Exs. 3, 5. 

It is undisputed that the Collingses read and understood the terms of that 

lease. RP 80:3-81:2 (Sept. 14,2010). 

In May 2006, the Collingses and Mr. Loveless executed a purchase 

and sale agreement, which listed as buyer "Robert Loveless" and "Robert 

P. Loveless, a married man, as his separate estate." Exs. 6, 104. The 

Collingses and Mr. Loveless also executed a lease that identified Home 

Front Holdings as landlord. Exs. 3, 5. City First was not a party to either 

the purchase and sale agreement or the lease. Exs. 3, 5, 6, 104. 
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To facilitate his transaction with the Collingses, Mr. Loveless 

personally put down 10 percent of the purchase price, which the 

Collingses later repaid to Mr. Loveless's personal bank account. RP 65:9-

13 (Sept. 14, 2010); see also RP 30:13-25 (Sept. 14, 2010); RP 142:8-

143:2 (Sept. 15,2010); Ex. 110. Mr. Loveless financed the remainder of 

the purchase price with a purchase-money mortgage loan. See, e.g., 

Exs. 6, 8. Mr. Loveless used City First to "table fund" that loan, meaning 

the actual lender was not City First. RP 98:24-102:15 (Sept. 15, 2010). 

The paperwork was prepared in Mr. Loveless and Mr. Mullen's office and, 

upon completion, was sent directly to the lender. RP 98:24-103:11, 

102:19-22, 133:13-134:6, 181:5-9 (Sept. 15,2010). 

After they sold their house to Mr. Loveless, the Collingses paid the 

first year's rent to Home Front Holdings. RP 30:13-25 (Sept. 14, 2010); 

RP 92:12-18 (Sept. 15,2010). Mr. Collings - who has worked in the 

residential mortgage industry "for a long time" - admitted that Home 

Front Holdings, not City First, received those rent payments. RP 26:21-

23, 94:1-11 (Sept. 14, 2010); RP 92:12-18 (Sept. 15,2010). Later, 

Mr. Loveless directed the Collingses to pay rent to yet another one of his 

businesses: Integrity Management Group ("IMG"). Exs. 7, 10 at 0940; 
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RP 94:1-11 (Sept. 14, 2010). There is no evidence of any relationship 

between City First and Home Front Holdings or IMG. 

In April 2008, Mr. Loveless defaulted on his loan (which had since 

been refinanced), resulting in the lender foreclosing on the underlying 

deed of trust, thus threatening to remove the Collingses from the property. 

RP 37:5-17 (Sept. 14,2010). In response, the Collingses filed this case 

asserting claims against City First, Mr. Loveless, and the Mullens for 

violations of the Equity Skimming Act, the Residential Landlord-Tenant 

Act, the Credit Services Organization Act, and the Consumer Protection 

Act, and quiet title, civil conspiracy, declaratory relief, and usury. See 

CP 1-15. U.S. Bank subsequently intervened, seeking declaratory relief 

that its deed of trust was valid and that it was entitled to full payment on 

the debt evidenced by that deed of trust or, alternatively, that it was 

entitled to an equitable lien on the property in the amount of that debt. 

See, e.g., CP 2005-19, 2062-78. 

B. Procedural Background 

After filing, the case proceeded to discovery, including the 

deposition of Mr. Mullen, which the Collingses scheduled for 

July 26,2010. CP 1169-70. Unbeknownst to City First, beginning no 

later than July 23 and continuing through July 26, 2010, the Collingses' 
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counsel drafted a covenant not to execute any judgment against the 

Mullens. CP 1051, 1062. The Collingses' counsel repeatedly 

communicated and negotiated with the Mullens' counsel about that 

covenant and revised it accordingly. CP 1051, 1062. All of that was done 

without City First's knowledge or involvement. See, e.g., CP 1081, 1104. 

The secret covenant not to execute can be found at CP 1165-67. In 

relevant part, the covenant states: 

In consideration of the promise to pay $500.00 to plaintiffs do 
covenant, and agree with defendants Mullen, that plaintiffs (or any 
successor or assignee) will not execute or otherwise seek to 
enforce or collect on any judgment entered in the pending lawsuit 
against defendants Mullen.... Should judgment be entered 
against any defendant who is a party to this agreement, plaintiff 
will provide that defendant with a Satisfaction of Judgment 
promptly upon final disposition of all claims in this matter. 

Id. While the covenant resolved the Collingses' claims against the 

Mullens, it purported to preserve the Collingses' claims against the other 

parties, expressly including "City First Mortgage Services, LLC." Id. 

As planned, the Collingses deposed Mr. Mullen on July 26,2010-

the same day that the Collingses and the Mullens finalized their covenant. 

CP 1051, 1062, 1165-67. The Collingses' counsel admittedly provided 

the final draft of that covenant to the Mullens before deposing Mr. Mullen. 

CP 1162. The Mullens' counsel confirmed that fact. CP 1211-14. Even 

though City First's counsel appeared for that deposition, neither the 
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Collingses' counsel nor the Mullens' counsel disclosed their negotiations 

or the existence of that covenant to City First. CP 1081, 1104. 

Starting on September 14 and continuing through 

September 20,2010, the Collingses, U.S. Bank, and City First (still 

without knowledge of the covenant) appeared for trial. See generally 

Reported Proceedings (Sept. 14-20, 2010). The Mullens, however, did 

not. See id. Accordingly, the Collingses and City First read the transcript 

of Mr. Mullen's July 26 deposition to the jury and offered it into evidence. 

RP 15:12-21; 16:24-17:2; 18:5 (Sept. 16,2010); Ex. 70. Then, in closing 

arguments, the Collingses' counsel - the only people in the courtroom 

who knew of the covenant - asked the jury, "Where are [the Mullens]?" 

and "Why aren't they here [to defend themselves]?" CP 1775-77. 

Not only did the Collingses fail to disclose the covenant and then 

argue to the jury that the Mullens had inexplicably failed to defend 

themselves, the Collingses did not inform the trial court that its jury 

instructions - most of which the Collingses proposed - did not accurately 

reflect the fact that the Mullens were no longer potentially liable. See 

CP 566-635, 825-34, 837-90. Jury instruction numbers 9-11, 13, and 14 

concerned the Collingses' allegations that City First should be held liable 
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for the Mullens' acts under various theories of vicarious liability. CP 850-

53, 855-56. For example, jury instruction number 14 provided in part: 

If you find that Andrew Mullen was an employee or authorized 
agent of City First Mortgage Services, LLC, then any act or 
omission by him within the scope of his employment was the act or 
omission of City First Mortgage Services, LLC. 

CP 856. Jury instruction number 12 concerned the Collingses' allegation 

that the Mullens were agents of City First and, therefore, City First may be 

liable for their actions. CP 854. Jury instruction numbers 16 and 17 

indicated that City First may be liable for the acts of other co-defendants, 

including the Mullens. CP 858-59. And jury instruction number 36 

addressed the Collingses' claim that City First and the Mullens could be 

jointly and severally liable. CP 883. In total, nine instructions directed 

the jury to decide whether City First could be liable for the Mullens' acts 

even though the Mullens were not potentially liable. See CP 837-90. 

Based, at least in part, on Mr. Mullen's deposition testimony and 

the trial court's instructions, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the 

Collingses. CP 897-901. The jury found City First liable for the acts of 

Mr. Mullen and his business partner, Mr. Loveless, in the amount of 

$40,311. CP 898-99 (Questions 3-4). That amount represented the total 

amount for which City First was liable to the Collingses. CP 899 

(Question 5). The jury also awarded punitive damages against City First 
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and Mr. Loveless in the amount of $80,622 and against Mr. Mullen in the 

amount of $8,000. CP 900 (Question 10). The Collingses later requested 

prevailing-party attorneys' fees and costs, including a 20 percent 

enhancement of their fees. CP 984-95, 1368-75, 1864-73. The trial court 

granted that request and awarded fees totaling $628,564.20 - more than 

15 times the compensatory damages award. CP 897-901, CP 1977-83. 

As noted previously, it was not until the Collingses requested such 

fees that City First learned of the covenant. In support of their fee 

petition, the Collingses submitted a 33-page, single-spaced ledger. 

CP 1033-65. Buried in that ledger were three passing references to a 

"covenant not to execute." CP 1051, 1062. That was how City First 

learned of the covenant, now nearly two months after trial. CP 1081, 

1103-06. Understandably, City First immediately demanded a copy. See 

id. The Collingses' counsel initially refused to even acknowledge the 

existence of the covenant. CP 1068-69, 1081, 1106, 1139-49, 1250, 1256-

58. Then, after the trial court entered judgment against City First (CP 

1135-38), the Collingses produced a copy of the covenant as part of a 

motion asking the trial court to "approv[ e] as fair their settlement with 

Andrew and Malinda Mullen." CP 1155-59. 
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Following that initial disclosure, the Collingses' arguments 

regarding the covenant not to execute changed substantially and 

repeatedly. When City First opposed the Collingses' motion to approve 

the settlement and also requested a reasonableness hearing (see CP 1215-

24, 1238-48, 1272-76), the Collingses reversed course and claimed that 

the issue was actually moot because the Mullens had not yet tendered 

$500 to the Collingses, as required by the covenant. See, e.g., CP 1278, 

1283. The trial court then requested additional briefing and held three oral 

arguments on the mootness issue - all premised on the Collingses' 

assertion that they had not yet received payment from the Mullens. See, 

e.g., CP 1466-91; RP 2:4-11:9 (Jan. 20, 2011); RP 1 (Feb. 25, 2011). 

In response to the Collingses' mootness arguments, City First 

contacted the Mullens and discovered that the Collingses had not asked 

the Mullens to make that payment until after City First objected to the 

Collingses' motion and, further, that the Mullens had agreed to make the 

payment promptly. See, e.g., CP 1781-84. These facts were corroborated 

in a declaration executed by Mr. Mullen, which also explained the 

circumstances leading up to the execution ofthe covenant as follows: 

In the days leading up to the deposition, Plaintiffs' counsel and my 
counsel negotiated a covenant not to execute any judgment against 
my wife and me in anticipation of that deposition. I received the 
final version of that document from Plaintiffs' counsel on July 
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26, 2010 - the morning of my deposition - and was informed that 
Plaintiffs would only execute the covenant if my deposition 
testimony was acceptable. The covenant was fully executed after 
my deposition. 

CP 1772-74 (emphasis added). Mr. Mullen also confirmed that he was 

solvent at the time he executed the covenant. See id. 

In response to the above argument and declaration, the Collingses 

reversed course yet again. The Collingses informed the trial court and 

City First that they were withdrawing their mootness argument because 

they had received payment from Mr. Mullens and again asked the trial 

court to approve the settlement. RP 47:4-25 (Feb. 25, 2011); CP 1767-71. 

The Collingses also asked the trial court to (a) strike Mr. Mullen's 

declaration concerning the circumstances leading up to the execution of 

the covenant and his solvency, and (b) find that the Mullens were 

insolvent at the time they executed the covenant. CP 1786-96, 1799-1809. 

On March 25, the trial court entered its Order re: Mullins [sic] 

Release and Motion for New Trial. CP 1859-63. Although the trial court 

found that "Plaintiffs' settlement with Mullins [sic] was first disclosed 

after trial," the court refused to vacate its judgment on that basis or any 

other basis set forth in City First's post-trial motion. Id. Instead, the trial 

court ruled that "[ n]o reason appears to discharge City First from 

liability .... " Id. 
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Turning to U.S. Bank's claims, the trial court found against 

U.S. Bank and entered judgment quieting title in favor of the Collingses 

even though they had not (and, to date, have not) made any mortgage, 

rent, or other payment related to the property since July 2008. CP 1842-

58; see also RP 96:15-22, 117:5-10 (Sept. 14,2010). As a result, the 

Collingses have now lived in the house rent- and mortgage-free for 36 

months and now have title to the property without any future payment 

obligation, any risk of foreclosure, or any requirement to return the 

$115,644.71 that they received from the sale of the house to Mr. Loveless. 

CP 1842-58; see also RP 148:8-16, 149:1-5 (Sept. 15,2010). 

Both City First and U.S. Bank timely appealed. 

V.ARGUMENT 

A. Standards or Review 

This Court reviews errors of law - such as the trial court's rulings 

regarding the Collingses' failure to disclose their covenant not to execute 

any judgment against the Mullens - de novo. See Meadow Valley Owners 

Ass'n v. Meadow Valley, LLC, 137 Wn. App. 810, 816, 156 P.3d 240 

(2007) ("Where the relevant facts are undisputed and the parties dispute 

only the legal effect of those facts, the standard of review is also de 
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novo."); see also Coulter v. Asten Grp., Inc., 155 Wn. App. 1, 7 n.2, 230 

P.3d 169 (2010) (statutory interpretation reviewed de novo). 

This Court reviews the trial court's denial of a motion for a new 

trial for abuse of discretion. McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 68 Wn. 

App. 96, 103, 841 P.2d 1300 (1992). A trial court abuses its discretion 

when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or its discretion is exercised 

on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State ex rei. Carroll v. 

Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). "A court acts on 

untenable grounds when its factual findings are not supported by the 

record; it acts for untenable reasons if it uses an incorrect standard of law 

or the facts do not meet the requirements of the standard of law." Sherron 

Assocs. Loan Fund V (Mars Hotel) LLC v. Saucier, 157 Wn. App. 357, 

361,237 P.3d 338 (2010). 

This Court reviews the trial court's decision as to the amount of an 

award of attorneys' fees and imposition of a multiplier for manifest abuse 

of discretion. Chuong v. Seattle City Light, 159 Wn.2d 527, 538, 151 P.3d 

976 (2007). A trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is 

outside the range of acceptable choices. Zink v. City of Mesa, 137 Wn. 

App. 271, 277, 152 P.3d 1044 (2007). Appellate courts have not hesitated 

to vacate an award of fees in appropriate cases, such as where there is a 
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"skewed apportionment" between the parties. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. 

Wash. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 94 Wn. App. 744, 763, 972 P.2d 1282 (1999). 

B. This Court Should Vacate The Trial Court's Judgment 
Because The Collingses Failed To Disclose Their Secret 
Covenant Not To Execute Before Trial As Required 

Under Washington law, settling parties must promptly disclose 

both the existence and terms of covenants not to execute before trial. In 

the only Washington case to address this disclosure requirement,

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