No. 66527-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DONALD COLLINGS and BETH COLLINGS, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Defendants in Intervention/Respondents,

v.

CITY FIRST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC,

Defendant/Appellant

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR THE GREENPOINT MORTGAGE FUNDING TRUST MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2007-ARI,

Plaintiff in Intervention/Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE RICHARD EADIE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS COLLINGS IN RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF CITY FIRST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

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

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. City First Did Not Except To the Instructions Or The Verdict Form And the Verdict is Supported By Substantial Evidence.
 - 1. Substantial Evidence Supports Any One Of The Multiple Claims Upon Which The Jury Based Its Verdict.

The jury answered a series of questions in an unchallenged special verdict form, separately finding that City First was vicariously liable to the Collings in the total amount of \$120,933 for the acts of Robert Loveless, and that it was independently liable to the Collings in the total amount of \$120,933. (CP 897-901) In arguing that if any "one or more of [the Collings'] claims is set aside on appellate review, the judgment must be

vacated" (City First Br. 42), City First ignores the jury's separate findings establishing these separate bases for liability. Contrary to City First's argument, if there is sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict on any of its findings against City First, this court must affirm. See Corey v. Pierce County, 154 Wn. App. 752, 767, 225 P.3d 367 (2010) ("Notwithstanding the elimination of the negligence cause of action, the verdict remains unaffected" where sufficient evidence supported jury's verdict on intentional tort claims), rev. denied, 170 Wn.2d 1016 (2010). Here, there is substantial evidence of City First's independent liability and of its vicarious liability for the acts of its manager Loveless.

Further, as to City First's independent liability, the jury entered a general verdict on the Collings' multiple statutory and common law claims. Because City First did not except to the verdict form, this court must affirm the jury's undifferentiated verdict if any one of those claims establishing City First's independent liability is supported by substantial evidence. *Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 539-40, 70 P.3d 126 (2003). As Tegland summarizes the rule:

In a multitheory case, i.e., a case in which the jury may base its verdict on one of a number of theories of liability asserted by the plaintiff, an appellate court will be obligated to remand if one of the theories is later invalidated on appeal, but only if the defendant objected to the use of a general verdict and proposed a clarifying special verdict form.

Tegland, 15A Wash. Prac., Handbook Civil Procedure § 88.6 (2010-2011 ed.) (emphasis added), citing **Davis**, 149 Wn.2d 521.8

City First's contrary argument relies solely on a 1907 case in which the Supreme Court set aside a verdict in favor of "a colored man, although the complaint does not allege the fact," on claims for assault and battery and for violating his civil rights after he was ejected from a restaurant, on the ground that he did not state a civil rights claim. *Chase v. Knabel*, 46 Wash. 484, 485, 90 P. 642, 642 (1907) (City First Br. 42). If the Court followed a different rule in *Chase* than that it espoused 96 years later in *Davis*, the more recent case must be deemed authoritative. *Puget Mill Co. v. Kerry*, 183 Wash. 542, 559, 49 P.2d 57 (1935).

Here, the jury was instructed that it could find City First liable under the Credit Services Organizations Act, (CP 860), the Consumer Protection Act (through the Equity Skimming Act, Credit Services

⁸ See also Mavroudis v. Pittsburgh-Corning Corp., 86 Wn. App. 22, 36, 935 P.2d 684 (1997) (where "jury rendered a single monetary verdict on both the strict liability product-warning claim and the negligent failure-to-warn claim" instructional error on "negligent failure-to-warn claim would not affect the judgment."); Wlasiuk v. Whirlpool Corp., 81 Wn. App. 163, 173, 914 P.2d 102 (1996), modified by 932 P.2d 1266 (1997) (where verdict form did not require jury to specify which sections of employee handbook contained enforceable promises of employer, court may affirm "if we find substantial evidence of a breach of any promise of specific conduct"); McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 125 Wn.2d 1, 11, 882 P.2d 157 (1994) (where defendant conceded warning claim properly before jury, court may affirm where verdict form failed to distinguish between liability for negligent design and failure to warn); Micro Enhancement Int'l, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP, 110 Wn. App. 412, 429, 40 P.3d 1206 (2002) (failure to except to verdict form bars challenge on appeal).

Organizations Act and Consumer Loan Act) (CP 868-71), civil conspiracy under the common law (CP 847, 878), if it acted in concert with Loveless, or if Loveless was acting within the scope of his employment with City First. (CP 847) As the trial court held in denying its CR 50(b) motion (CP 1862), City First waived any challenge to these jury instructions either because it did not except, or because it failed to state the grounds for its exception, as required by CR 51. (9/20 RP 4) Thus, the legal standard by which these claims are tested for sufficiency of the evidence is established by the trial court's instructions, which are binding on City First as the law of the case. *See Noland v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 43 Wn.2d 588, 590, 262 P.2d 765 (1953) ("No assignments of error being directed to any of the instructions, they became the law of the case on this appeal, and the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict is to be determined by the application of the instructions and rules of law laid down in the charge.").

In the unchallenged verdict form, the jury answered "yes" to the question whether City First was "independently liable to the Collings on their claims?" (CP 899) The verdict form segregated only the Credit Services Organizations Act claim. (CP 900) City First did not except to the verdict form. (9/20 RP 4) This court cannot tell from the jury's verdict whether it found City First independently liable for civil conspiracy, for acting in concert with Loveless, or for a violation of the

CPA on any grounds in addition to the Credit Services Organizations Act. *McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman*, 125 Wn.2d 1, 11, 882 P.2d 157 (1994) ("We cannot now dissect the jury's general verdict, nor can we disregard it."). As there is substantial evidence to support each or any of these theories, this court should affirm.

2. The Trial Court Did Not Enter A Judgment Holding City First Jointly And Severally Liable With Mullen And Loveless.

City First argues that it cannot be "jointly and severally liable with the Mullens or Loveless" (City First Br. 27-28) because Loveless filed for bankruptcy before entry of final judgment and because Mullen's release discharged him from joint and several liability with his co-defendants. This argument is predicated on the claimed "joint and several" nature of the defendants' liability. The judgment, however, does not provide for joint and several liability on the jury's award of damages. (CP 1135-38)

No monetary judgment was entered against Loveless, who was ordered in default for failing to answer, and filed for bankruptcy prior to final judgment. (CP 1861) City First's contention that it was held "jointly and severally liable" with Loveless is plainly without merit.

City First's contention that it was held "jointly and severally" liable with Mullen is also wrong. The judgment on the jury's verdict specifies, both in the summary and in the body of the judgment, that City

First is liable for a principal judgment of \$120,933 "both independently and vicariously by and through the acts of Robert Paul Loveless and Andrew Mullen," and that Mullen is liable in the principal amount of \$8,000. (CP 1136-37, 2172-73) The only reference to "joint" liability is in the judgment summary's identification of City First and Mullen as "joint judgment debtors," and in the recitation that both parties are liable "for civil conspiracy, jointly and severally." (CP 1136-37, 2171-72)

City First argues that the Collings' covenant not to execute released Mullens as a matter of law, but cites no authority for the proposition that a release of one intentional tortfeasor releases a coconspirator. Because there is no common law right of contribution among intentional tortfeasors, the principles of contribution among at-fault codefendants that underlie the Tort Reform Act, are inapplicable to defendants who are liable for civil conspiracy. See Peck, Washington's Partial Rejection and Modification of the Common Law Rule of Joint and Several Liability, 62 Wash. L. Rev. 233, 235, 237 (1987) (liability at common law for co-defendants committing "intentional torts, frequently criminal in nature, and involv[ing] some sort of combination or conspiracy," was joint, with no right of contribution); Glover for Cobb v. Tacoma General Hosp., 98 Wn.2d 708, 722-23, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983) (plaintiff who settles with solvent agent releases principal because

settlement extinguishes right of contribution under RCW ch. 4.22). Even were the Tort Reform Act applicable, a party is liable for the "fault" of another "where both were acting in concert," RCW 4.22.070(1)(a), as the jury found here. City First is thus liable for furthering Loveless' equity skimming scheme regardless whether judgment was properly entered against its manager Mullen.

3. City First Was Properly Held Vicariously Liable For The Acts Of Its Manager Loveless.

The jury found City First both independently liable and vicariously liable for the actions of its agent Loveless, who was in default for failing to answer the Collings' complaint. (CP 91-93, 271-80, 371-77) The jury was told that though the Collings still bore the burden of proving their damages, it "must find for the Collings with respect to each of their claims against defendant Robert P. Loveless." (CP 847) City First did not explain its exception to Instruction 6, that City First is liable for any acts of Loveless if the jury found that he was "an employee or authorized agent of City First" (CP 847; 9/20 RP 4), and did not except to other instructions that it was liable if Loveless was acting "within the scope of employment." (CP 850-56) The jury found Loveless liable for a total of \$120,933 in damages (Questions 2 and 10) and that City First was liable for Loveless's acts. (Question 3) (CP 898, 900)

City First does not challenge Loveless's liability on appeal. Nor could it, given the uncontested order of default and subsequent judgments. (CP 91-93, 271-80, 371-77) Loveless was liable as a matter of law for fraud in connection with his foreclosure rescue scheme under the Equity Skimming Act, RCW ch. 61.34,9 the Credit Services Organizations Act, RCW ch. 19.134, the Consumer Loan Act, RCW ch. 31.04, and the Residential Landlord Tenant Act, RCW ch. 59.18, as well as the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86.090.

City First also does not contest that a principal may be liable for its agent's violations of the duties imposed by these statutes. *See Wilkinson v. Smith*, 31 Wn. App. 1, 6, 639 P.2d 768 (1982) (vicarious liability of principal for agent's violation of CPA), *rev. denied*, 97 Wn.2d 1023 (1982). City First instead argues that the jury's verdict lacks "a sufficient evidentiary basis," contending that it did not have "the right to control the manner and means of Mr. Loveless's work for Home Front Holdings." (City First Br. 31) However, the sufficiency of the evidence must be

⁹ The foreclosure rescue scheme presented a textbook case of equity skimming: (1) an investor buys a residential property from a homeowner; (2) the home owner directly or indirectly finances all or part of the purchase price; (3) the owner's right to receive the balance of the purchase price is not secured by a lien on the property, or the investor encumbers the property with a mortgage superior to any lien of the homeowner; (4) the investor uses proceeds from the mortgage for his own benefit rather than for the property; and (5) the investor defaults on the mortgage within two years. RCW 61.34.020(b)(i)-(iv).

tested against the trial court's instructions, which establish the law of the case, and not by snippets of case law that City First cherry picks to support a contention that no respondent superior liability can exist as a matter of law. *See Noland*, 43 Wn.2d at 590.

City First ignores the substantial evidence that Loveless, like Mullen, was a City First employee, that City First gave Loveless and Mullen authority to represent to the public that Home Front Holdings, LLC, was affiliated with City First, and that City First benefitted from the relationship by reaping loan fees from Loveless's acts. (Exs. 8, 55) With City First's oversight and approval, Loveless and Mullen operated Home Front as City First branch offices, making loans on behalf of City First. (CP 736-749; 9/15 RP 52-53; *see* Exs. 59-60) City First employed Loveless as the branch manager at City First's Orem, Utah, Home Front branch. (9/15 RP 46, 84; Ex. 59(a)) Loveless and Mullen attended City First managers' meetings together. (CP 747) City First approved (and insisted on the right to approve) their solicitations and advertising. (CP 749)

City First gave Loveless a City First email account that he used to communicate with the Collings. (9/14 RP 56; Exs. 3-5) The Collings were put in touch with Loveless by another, unlicensed, City First employee, Spencer, after answering a direct solicitation and applying for a

loan with City First. (9/14 RP 22; 9/15 RP 12) Spencer told the Collings that Loveless was his manager at City First. (9/14 RP 28-29) The Collings had never even heard of Home Front until Loveless, using his City First email account, sent a final revised lease to them and directed that they make their lease payments to Home Front Holdings at the same address as City First's branch office. (9/14 RP 54, 123; 9/15 RP 45-46; Ex. 5)

Moreover, City First is liable for Loveless' actions because he was a *manager*, not just an employee. The principles that insulate an employer from respondeat superior liability for the intentional misconduct of an employee are "irrelevant" where "an owner, manager, partner, or corporate officer personally participates" in the misconduct at issue. *Clayton v. Wilson*, 168 Wn.2d 57, 68, 227 P.3d 278 (2010) (member of marital community may be liable for sexual assault committed by other spouse, who is deemed a "manager" of the marital community).

City First contends that "Loveless served only himself and his businesses" because he benefitted from the second loan and received the Collings' rent payments. (City First Br. 36) But whether a servant's actions – including those amounting to an intentional tort – occur within the scope of employment is a question of fact, which the jury decided against City First in this case. *Mason v. Kenyon Zero Storage*, 71 Wn.

App. 5, 11-12, 856 P.2d 410 (1993). The fact that Loveless's primary purpose was to benefit himself is irrelevant "unless it clearly appears that the servant could not have been directly or indirectly serving his master." *Carmin v. Port of Seattle*, 10 Wn.2d 139, 154, 116 P.2d 338 (1941).

The test is whether Loveless's actions in entering into the loans were "expressly or impliedly authorized by the employer . . . [T]he employer is liable if the act complained of was incidental to the acts expressly or impliedly authorized." *Carmin*, 10 Wn.2d at 153, *quoting Poundstone v. Whitney*, 189 Wash. 494, 499, 65 P.2d 1261 (1937). An agent's conscious deceit may be within the scope of employment if the principal grants the agent authority to make the representations at issue. *See Petersen v. Turnbull*, 68 Wn.2d 231, 233-34, 412 P.2d 349 (1966); *Restatement* (2nd) Agency §§ 230, 257.

Under the unchallenged instructions, now the law of the case, "the employee is acting within the scope of authority if the employee is performing duties that were expressly or impliedly assigned to him . . . [or] engaged in the furtherance of the employer's interest." (CP 851, Inst. No. 10) City First did not have to grant Loveless "authority to enter into sale and leaseback arrangements or . . . act as a landlord" (City First Br. 35-36) in order to be liable for his loan transactions. City First expressly authorized Loveless to market to homeowners who, like the Collings, were

in financial distress. City First profited from Loveless' loans, (Exs. 8, 55), which, as a matter of law, violated the Credit Services Organizations Act. (CP 371-77) The jury's finding that City First was liable for Loveless's illegal equity skimming and foreclosure rescue scam, whether in his capacity as lender, purchaser, or landlord, was supported by overwhelming evidence.

4. City First Is Independently Liable To The Collings On Their Numerous Claims.

In addition to its vicarious liability, City First was also independently liable to the Collings for violating the CSOA and the Consumer Protection Act, as well as for the torts of negligent supervision and conspiracy.

a. City First Is Not Exempt From The Credit Services Organizations Act.

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